1957

W. B. Russell v. The Ogden Union Railway and Depot Co. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiff commenced his employment with the defendant on or about the 28th day of August, 1941. For almost four years he worked for defendant without ever having any disciplinary action against him. He had never been called for an investigation nor had any disciplinary action against him. He had never been called for an investigation nor had any demerits ever been assessed against him (Tr. 113, 170). His employment was covered by a Collective Bargaining Agreement. Rules 55(a), 55(b) and 38 thereof provide as follows:

“55. *Leave of Absence*: (a) Yardmen will not be granted leave of absence for a longer period than 90 days except in case of sickness, committee work, or by permission of the Superintendent.

“(b) Yardmen taking leave of absence for a period of over ten days must secure and fill out Form 153 so the leave will be covered as a matter of record.

“38. *Investigations*: No yardman will be suspended or dismissed without first having fair and impartial hearing and his guilt established. The man whose case is under consideration may be represented by an employe of his choice, who may be a committeeman, who will be permitted to interrogate witnesses. The accused and his representative shall be permitted to hear the testimony of witnesses . . .”

On or about the 4th day of July 1945 the plaintiff was scalded while working for the defendant and was off work at least eleven days by virtue of such scalding (Plaintiff's Exhibit “A” and Tr. 86). When he returned to work, having been gone for a period of time in excess of ten days, no one called him for an investigation nor suggested that he could not return to work because he had not obtained a leave of absence. At that time he did not obtain such a leave nor ask for one, believing the fact that as he had visited the doctor and was technically under his care, he was exonerated from any application of the rule (Tr. 234 and 235).

After the scalding plaintiff returned to work and worked for a matter of several days (Plaintiff's Exhibit “A”), and on or about July 20 or 21st he laid off sick because of a cold. He only intended to be gone a day or two and did not intend to be gone in excess of ten

days (Tr. 85, 86 and 216). After he had been off work for approximately six days he became sufficiently ill that his wife drove him to the doctor (Tr. 216 and 217). His condition was diagnosed as a mid-ear infection which frequently took a long series of treatment (Tr. 225). He received two prescriptions from the doctor on July 27, an atomizer for his sore throat and medication for his ear.

After treatment from the doctor he went home and remained home in bed until he was called on August 1st at 6:30 o'clock in the morning to report for a formal investigation at 2 P.M. of that date for reason of his alleged violation of the Collective Bargaining Agreement, by reason of his being absent without leave for a period in excess of ten days.

It is conceded by the defendant in its Answers to Interrogatories, Answers to Requests for Admissions, and the testimony of John E. O. Burton (Tr. 38-43) that no witnesses testified at said hearing except Russell; that Russell heard no testimony against himself; that he was not permitted to interrogate witnesses because no witnesses were produced; and that he was given no opportunity for rebuttal, there being no testimony adverse to him introduced which would require rebuttal; and that the transcript of the said investigation is a full and complete record of the alleged hearing.

On the 4th day of August, 1945, the defendant dismissed the plaintiff from it's service, assigning as its reason therefor that plaintiff had been absent from his employment for a period of over ten days in violation of Rule 55(b).

On January 14, 1946, and within a period of six months from the date of discharge, plaintiff filed with defendant written objections to his dismissal, and requested reinstatement (Exhibit "B"). On January 22, 1946 defendant, through it's Superintendent, reaffirmed the dismissal (Exhibit "C").

This case was tried previously and appealed to this court in *Russell vs. O.U.R. & D.* (Utah) 247 P. (2) 257. At that time the defendant based its appeal primarily upon the fact that it contended it had proof and could prove, but was denied the opportunity by the lower court, that the plaintiff had been guilty of a misrepresentation at the time of the hearing when he said he was ill, and that it could prove and had proof that the plaintiff was not ill but in fact the plaintiff worked each and every day during the period of his absence at the Pine View Inn selling beer, and that fact was also conceded by his Union representative, Mr. C. E. McDaniels, Vice President of the Switchmen's Union of North America. This court believed those representations and Mr. Justice McDonough held that it would be a travesty of justice to permit the plaintiff to recover on the basis of the hearing alone, when the defendant could prove the falsity of his statements. This view was concurred in by Justice Crockett who found that the plaintiff's own representative finally conceded that plaintiff was justifiably discharged. These findings were conclusions and not based upon fact. The facts were that Mr. McDaniels withdrew from the case solely upon instructions from Mr. Cashin, International President of the Switchmen's Union of North America (Tr. 192, 193 and 197) for the sole reason that the plaintiff was not a dues paying member of the Switchmen's Union of North America. He stated

further that he had personally made an investigation as to whether the plaintiff had testified falsely at said hearing and had come to the conclusion as a result of his personal inquiry that he could find no false testimony (Tr. 187), and that the facts contained in Mr. Hudgens' letter to Mr. Edens were in fact correct.

Mr. McDaniels testified further that he did not concede at any time that his withdrawal from the case was not done with plaintiff's consent (Tr. 201), and that his letter to Paulson meant and should have been interpreted to mean that his withdrawal from the case was without any prejudice to the plaintiff's right to proceed further (Tr. 210, 212, 213), and that he so advised Mr. Russell to that effect (Tr. 214).

On the other hand, Mr. Edens, Superintendent of the defendant, conceded that he had never had any personal knowledge that plaintiff was not in fact sick and that he did not know of a single solitary soul who knew whether Russell was sick or not (Tr. 117). In answer to interrogatories and admissions the defendant conceded that no inquiry was ever made by anyone as to whether the plaintiff had been ill or testified falsely in the investigation until April of 1946, eight months after the plaintiff was discharged.

Mr. Paulson, Vice President of the defendant, admitted all of these facts and testified in addition thereto that plaintiff was not discharged solely because he had been absent for ten days but that part of the reason for the discharge was outside employment (Tr. 174), a subject not a part of the formal investigation and not a ground for discharge under the contract.

THE NATURE OF THE CASE ON APPEAL

The questions raised by this appeal are:

- (1) Does Rule 55(b) constitute a proper ground for discharge?
- (2) Did the defendant accord to the plaintiff his rights under Rule 38?
- (3) Is defendant bound by its testimony and oral argument that plaintiff was discharged at least in part for reasons other than Rule 55(b)?
- (4) Did the court err in its instructions and its refusal to give the plaintiff's requested instructions?

POINT I

RULE 55(b) DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A GROUND FOR DISCHARGE.

The defendant charged the plaintiff with a violation of Rule 55(b) and discharged him for an asserted violation thereof:

“55. (b) Yardmen taking leave of absence for a period of over ten days must secure and fill out Form 153 so the leave will be covered as a matter of record.”

It is necessary for a proper consideration of this problem to consider also Rule 55(a):

“55. (a) Yardmen will not be granted leave of absence for a longer period than 90 days except in case of sickness, committee work, or by permission of the Superintendent.”

It will be seen that no leaves will be granted in excess of 90 days unless they are approved by the Superintendent, except in case of sickness or committee work.

Nowhere is it indicated that permission is required for illness or committee work. Nowhere is it suggested that a man cannot be away for more than 90 days as a matter of right.

If that be true, and the language can't be denied, does it follow that if a man is away for a lesser period, that he must have the approval of anyone, particularly where, as here, the rule states that the *only purpose is so that the leave can be covered as a matter of record*.

Clearly the first requirement of the rule is that an employee intends to be away for more than 10 days. This is conceded by the defendant. Its Mr. Beckett, a signatory to the contract, testified (Tr. 128):

"A. Well, that rule itself tells you what you will do to secure a leave of absence.

Q. That means if you anticipate being off for a period of time in excess of ten days, doesn't it?

A. That's right."

Again discussing illness (Tr. 128-129):

"Q. Suppose you didn't anticipate being off for a period of ten days but just for example on the 10th day you were in an automobile accident and ended up in the hospital, did the union contend that he had violated the rule because he hadn't gotten the written leave before he went to the hospital?

A. Well, in cases of that nature the local chairman would be aware of those things and if a man was injured or in the hospital the local chairman made application for leave of absence. That covered the man."

And again (Tr. 131-132):

“Q. When he was sick in bed?

A. Well, if he was sick in bed we usually provided for that.

Q. What do you mean you usually provided for that?

A. Well, if we found that a man was sick in bed or was injured and so forth, that he was more or less granted a leave of absence when it was a bona fide fact that such was the case.”

This is the only testimony on this phase elicited from any of the defendant’s witnesses. The defendant is bound by it. On the other hand, the uncontradicted testimony is that the plaintiff did not anticipate being away for over 10 days. In fact he expected and planned to be absent for only a couple of days (Tr. 222-223). Nowhere did the defendant attempt to contradict or deny this fact.

Further, it was conceded that this was not a disciplinary rule. Mr. Beckett, the defendant’s witness, testified that he did not know of any rule of the defendant that provided for a penalty for the violation of Rule 55(b).

This conduct on the part of the defendant and its agents, and its recognition that it is the only reasonable and proper interpretation finds ample support in law.

It has long been recognized that the mere failure to obey orders not involving wilful insubordination is not enough to justify discharge. Thus in 1886 the Supreme Court of Michigan recognized the rule, *Shaver vs. Ingerham*, 26 N.W. 162. The plaintiff had been hired for one year. He absented himself from work for one day con-

trary to the express desires of the defendant who discharged him. The court, in affirming judgment for the plaintiff, reviewed the law and concluded:

“In *Filleiul v. Armstrong*, 7 Adol. & E. 557, the failure of a teacher to return within a day or two after vacation, although it was strongly urged that the course of the school was seriously interfered with, was held not sufficient when set up in a plea to answer the case made by the declaration, and no ground to justify the discharge. The language of the court is clear on the insufficiency of the showing, and it was suggested that, even if actual loss was shown, it would be the ground of claim for reduction of wages, and not of discharge, where there was no serious moral wrong. In *Callo v. Brouncker*, 4 Car. & P. 518, the jury were told that there must be moral misconduct, pecuniary or otherwise, willful disobedience, or habitual neglect, to justify dismissal from service for a year; and, although both disobedience and neglect of orders were shown in several instances, the court would not let the jury act upon them as a serious enough to be sufficient. In that case the servant was a traveling courier. In *Edwards v. Levy*, 2 Fost. & F. 94, where there was a single act of neglect accompanied by insolence, the court held the plaintiff's case should go to the jury, as this could not be held, as matter of law, ground for discharge. The cases of *Cussons v. Skinner*, 11 Mees. & W. 161, and *Smith v. Allen*, 3 Fost. & F. 157, in addition to requiring disobedience to be willful, call attention to another element of decision, which is especially applicable here. It is held, not only that a sufficient cause must be shown, but also that the wrong was actually the real cause of dismissal, and not merely an ostensible reason.

“Willful disobedience, in the sense in which the word is used by the authorities, means something more than a conscious failure to obey. It involves a wrongful or perverse disposition, such as to render the conduct unreasonable, and inconsistent with proper subordination. We are not prepared to hold that, even in what is known as menial service, every act of disobedience may be lawfully punished by the penalty of dismissal and the serious consequences which it entails upon the servant put out of place. No doubt domestic employment may be closer than that in business employment; but there must be a limit to the arbitrary power of masters. In such employments as involve a higher order of services, and some degree of discretion and judgment, it would, in our opinion, be unauthorized and unreasonable to regard skilled mechanics, or other employes, as subject to the whim and caprice of their employers, or as deprived of all right of action to such a degree as to be liable to lose their places upon every omission to obey orders, involving no serious consequences.”

In 1899 the Supreme Court of Indiana in *Hamilton v. Love*, 152 Ind. 641, 53 N.E. 181, reached the same conclusion independently, and affirmed a judgment for the plaintiff, stating:

“The master would have no right to discharge the servant for trivial or unimportant acts of disobedience or negligence.”

It must be concluded therefor that a mere breach of a rule or neglect to adhere to it, if done inadvertently, is not sufficient to justify a discharge. More is required. The additional elements are intent and wilfulness.

In the case of *Ehlers v. Langley*, (Calif.) 237 Pac.

55, the court held:

“Although it is not necessary that the violation be perverse or malicious, or that it be the result of an evil intent toward the master, it must be made clear that the thing done or omitted to be done was done or omitted intentionally, the rule being grounded on the theory that willful disobedience of specific instructions of the master, if such instructions be reasonable and consistent with the contract of employment, is a breach of duty—a breach of the contract of service; and like any other breach of contract, of itself entitles the master to renounce the contract of employment.”

In *Goudal v. DeMille Pictures Corp.*, (Calif.) 5 Pac. (2) 433, it was held:

“To constitute a refusal or failure to perform the conditions of a contract of employment such as we have here, there must be, on the part of the actress, a willful act or willful misconduct. (May v. New York Motion Picture Corp. 45 Cal. App. 396, 187 P. 785; Ehlers v. Langley & Michaels Co. 72 Cal. App. 214, 237 P. 55).”

So even though it be said that the failure of an incapacitated employee to secure and fill out Form 153 covering his absence constitutes a technical violation of the rule, still such violation, being neither willful nor intentional, cannot be used by the employer as a ground for discharge.

And in *Bang v. International Sisal Co.*, Minn. 4 N.W. (2) 113, the court held:

“The privilege of discharge has been said to exist in those cases where there has been a material breach of the employment contract, and

“wilful disobedience” is recognized as such a breach.”

The above cases set forth a rule that has been recognized as a rule in the federal court since 1913. In *Carpenter Steel Co. v. Norcross*, 6th Cir. 204 F. 537 the court had the problem of a wrongful discharge and for the first time discussed what type of misconduct would in fact justify a discharge. In so considering the problem, the court laid down the following rule:

“And preliminary thereto a word or two should be said as to the nature of the misconduct which the law makes a justification for a discharge. It is certain that conduct involving moral turpitude, willful insubordination, or habitual neglect is such misconduct as to justify a discharge. An early case limited justification thereto. But it is now well settled that any conduct which is prejudicial or likely to be prejudicial or injures or has a tendency to injure the master is misconduct that warrants a discharge, 20 A. & E. Enc. of Law, p. 27; 26 Cyc. pp. 988, 990.

“In Wood, Master and Servant, p. 208, the law is stated thus: ‘Misconduct prejudicial to the master’s interests, although not exhibiting moral turpitude, is good cause for the discharge of a servant. And conduct exhibiting moral turpitude, although productive of no damage to the master’s interests, is a good ground for terminating the contract. Mere misconduct, not amounting to insubordination, or exerting a bad influence over other servants, or producing injury to the master’s business, or members of the master’s family, is not enough to warrant the discharge of a servant. The misconduct must be gross or such as is incompatible with the relation, or pernicious

in its influence, or injurious to the master's business.'

"And again on page 220 the matter is put thus: 'In order to justify a master in discharging a servant the servant must have been guilty of conduct that amounts to a breach of some express or implied provision of the contract of hiring. Anything less than that will not amount to a legal justification or excuse. The mere fact that he has been guilty of improper or unbecoming conduct, or that he has, in some slight matters, been guilty of a violation of his master's orders, will not warrant his discharge; but his conduct must have been such as to involve moral turpitude and his insubordination must have been willful and such as is inconsistent with the relation which he holds to the master and the duties he owes him.'"

See also *Keserich v. Carnegie Ill. Steel Corp.*, 7th Cir. 163 F. (2) 889; *Seagram & Sons v. Bynum*, 8th Cir. 191 F. (2) 5, *Sawyer v. E. F. Drew & Co.*, 111 Fed. Supp. 1; *Thomas v. N.Y., C. & St. L. R. Co.*, 97 F. Supp. 687; *Crisler v. Ill. Central R. Co.*, 5th Cir. 196 F. (2) 941.

In addition, to justify the discharge, it must be shown that the plaintiff knew that his failure to fill out and secure Form 153 might be used by his employer as a ground for discharge. True it is in this case the defendant proved that it had in the past used a violation of Rule 55 (b) as a reason for discharge, but it did not prove nor offer to prove that it had ever discharged an employee for violating the rule where the absence resulted from illness or accident. On the contrary, the defendant's witnesses conceded that such persons were protected.

We submit the following cases as additional authority for the proposition that the defendant could not properly discharge this employee for a violation of the rule resulting from illness without a showing that it had in the past invoked the same penalty against other employees for similar violations: *National Labor Relations Board v. Kohen-Ligon-Folz*, 128 F. (2) 502; *National Labor Relations Board v. Weyerhaeuser Timber Co.*, 132 F. (2) 234; *National Labor Relations Board v. Viking Pump Co.*, 113 F. (2) 759; *National Labor Relations Board v. Empire Worsted Mills*, 129 F. (2) 688; *National Labor Relations Board v. Oregon Worsted Co.* 96 F. (2) 193.

Finally, as the rule itself states, the filling out of the form is solely to make the absence a matter of record. Unless, therefore, defendant has shown (and it has not) that in failing to have a form covering this particular absence as a matter of record it has been adversely affected, the purely technical violation of the rule could not be relied upon as a basis for discharge. Moreover, that the filling out of the form is merely for the record shows that the requirement of the rule relates only to intentional, voluntary absences. Imagine an employee being required to fill out a form stating in substance, "I hereby apply for a leave of absence for the purpose of being sick for a period in excess of ten days."

It is submitted that Rule 55 (b) was not available as a basis for an investigation or as a reason for discharge for the following reasons, any one of which standing alone obviates the acts of the defendant:

(1) The defendant never has pleaded, claimed or offered to prove that the plaintiff intended, when he

laid off, to be gone in excess of 10 days.

(2) The defendant never pleaded, claimed or offered to prove that the absence was willful or intentional.

(3) The defendant never pleaded, claimed or offered to prove that the plaintiff knew that the rule applied to illness or sickness.

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