1957

# W. B. Russell v. The Ogden Union Railway and Depot Co. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

incapacitated from work. On April 30, 1946, three days after the foregoing letter was written, Dr. Stratford wrote Mr. Edens as follows: "In checking our files on William B. Russell, former switchman, I found all the dates correct. Mr. Russell complained of very much pain during the visits (visits for the burn on his leg as well as the earache—see Edens' letter Def. Ex. 5) to our office. *I believe he was capable of working after his release on July 11, 1945* (Def. Ey. 6). Moreover, Dr. Stratford testified as follows at the trial.

Questions by Mr. Bronson calling his attention to Exhibit 6.

"Q. You say here, 'I believe he was capable of working after his release on July 11, 1945,' is that correct?

"A. That's correct.

"Q. And was that your opinion at the time when you wrote it?

"A. That was my opinion at that time.

"Q. Will you testify it is your opinion now?

"A. Yes, sir."

There is no question but that Russell called on Dr. Stratford on July 27 complaining of an earache and received some drops therefor. The plaintiff makes much of the fact that Dr. Stratford, a company physician, gave him a release for work on August 6. Russell obtained the release from Dr. Stratford by trick (there is no other word for it) in order to bolster his claim that he was sick and under the care of a doctor during the period of time which was the subject of the investigation. Russell testified that he re-

ceived notice of his discharge August 4 (Tr. 61). He also admitted that thereafter (after he was discharged) and on August 6 he went to Dr. Stratford's office, requested and received, a release to return to work (Tr. 61). He also testified that *he did not tell* Dr. Stratford when he got the release that he had been discharged (Tr. 64). He also admitted that he never turned this release into the company, which ordinarily would be the only purpose for obtaining it, (Tr. 64) but that he retained it and *gave it to his counsel*, Mr. Patterson (Tr. 63). Dr. Stratford testified that he did not know at the time he gave Russell the release to return to work that he had been discharged (Tr. 147).

Both Russell and his wife, Margaret, were subpoenaed by the defendant to appear as witnesses at the trial. Russell testified that the Pine View Inn was leased in December 1944 "by his wife." Russell took out a beer license from Weber County for the Pine View Inn, the application being dated May 10, 1945 and signed "Mrs. Margaret Russell by W. B. Russell" (Def. Ex. 2). This signature was in the plaintiff's handwriting (Tr. 73), and the application recited as follows: "The names, ages and addresses of all persons directly or indirectly connected with said business for which license is hereby applied for are Mrs Margaret Russell, legal age, and W. B. Russell, legal age." He testified this license cost \$200.00 and that the lease rental on the Pine View Inn was \$150.00 to \$175.00 per month (Tr. 74). That it was also necessary to stock the establishment with supplies, that both bottled and draught beer was sold and the dining room specialized in steaks, chicken and trout dinners (Tr. 80). They also sold various sundry items. All



of the money to start this business Russell said he loaned to his wife, Margaret (Tr. 76). Mrs. Margaret Russell also testified that Russell loaned her the money to get the business started (Tr. 91). Russell testified that as between him and his wife he took no note, made no memorandum, or record of the transaction that it was, as he said, "all in the family" (Tr. 76). Apparently the Pine View Inn was a fairly substantial "set-up." According to testimony of Mrs. Margaret Russell, they served bottled and draught beer at a bar where twenty or thirty men could stand at one time (Tr. 95), they had seven or eight tables in the dining room where they served principally trout, steak and chicken dinners (Tr. 95). The Ogden area was swarming with military personnel in the summer of 1945 (Tr. 79-80). They were able to sell all the beer, steaks, etc. that could be obtained (Tr. 80), there being a shortage of such items. Mrs. Russell testified that in July and August they were "as busy as they could be," that she didn't know how much they took in each month as *Mr. Russell kept the books*, but that it was at least \$1,000.00 a month "maybe more" (Tr. 95). That July 24, Pioneer Day, (which was during the period of Russell's absence from work), was a big business day. Mr. Russell testified that beer was hard to get at that time and one had to have contacts to get it (Tr. 79). Apparently, Russell had these contacts having worked as a bar tender for Combe, who owned the Marion Bar in Ogden, and from whom the Pine View Inn was leased. After his discharge, he was employed most of the time by beer distributing companies.



Mrs. Russell prior to the venture with the Pine View Inn had no business experience whatsoever according to her own testimony (Tr. 93). She testified that she had never before worked for anybody (Tr. 93) and that she had had no previous experience running a restaurant or bar (Tr. 93). It appears from the evidence that the Pine View Inn was usually opened sometime in the afternoon and kept open until 12, 1, or 2 o'clock in the morning. Russell, was working the 11 P.M. to 7 A.M. shift, which permitted him after he had obtained his rest to have at least five or six hours which could have been devoted to this business and of course Russell seldom worked for the defendant company, putting in only sixty two days in the first seven months of 1945. There were thus five months out of the first seven in 1945 that he could have devoted to the business.

The Russells lived in a house or cabin behind the Pine View Inn. Russell, himself, admitted that he sometimes cooked, that he sometimes tended bar and did other work about the Pine View Inn "to help his wife" (Tr. 78). Mrs. Russell had four little children, ages one to nine, to take care of in the summer of 1945, in addition to all her other duties of operating the Pine View Inn. Is it any wonder that the jury did not believe that Russell, seldom working at his job on the railroad, experienced in the beer business and having contacts that enabled him to get beer, would do nothing; while his wife, Margaret, who had never worked for anyone, who had no previous business experience whatsoever and had the care of four little children, operated this fairly substantial restaurant and bar business by herself?

Moreover, in addition to Russell admitting at the trial under oath that he did work to some extent around the Pine View Inn, Mrs. Russell testified:

Questions by Mr. Bronson:

“Q. And you had four little children at that time, ages one to nine to take care of, didn’t you?

“A. Yes.

“Q. And you ran this business yourself?

“A. Yes.

“Q. Your husband, did he help you?

“A. Yes.

“Q. And he was working up there?

“A. He helped me as a husband” (Tr. 96).

During the examination of Mr. Russell we referred to the transcript of the official investigation and asked him if the true answer to the question by Mr. Caulk, to wit, “You work up there don’t you?” was not in fact “yes,” which was the answer he had changed to “no” and he answered \* \* \* “Mr. Bronson, if you don’t receive wages for anything there’s no work” (Tr. 85).

We submit that the foregoing testimony out of the mouths of the plaintiff Russell and his wife was amply sufficient together with the other evidence to warrant the jury in returning the verdict they did. A jury does not have to believe any witness—even though he is uncontradicted if his testimony is inherently improbable either in an absolute sense, or in the light of other evidence in the case.

## POINT III.

THE DEFENDANT NEVER OFFERED ANY EVIDENCE TO PROVE OR CLAIMED IN "ORAL ARGUMENT" THAT PLAINTIFF WAS DISCHARGED FOR ANY REASON OTHER THAN VIOLATION OF RULE 55(b).

The plaintiff says the evidence we produced shows plaintiff was discharged "at least in part" for reasons other than violation of Rule 55(b). If the evidence was sufficient to warrant the jury in finding plaintiff violated Rule 55(b) under circumstances warranting dismissal, that is enough; and if it shows something additional that certainly gives the plaintiff no grounds for complaint. We have never claimed and do not claim now that we have a right to justify Russell's discharge for any cause other than violation of Rule 55(b). The evidence we detailed under Point II was competent and relevant as tending to show justification for the discharge and its probative value was for the jury. We see no need for further discussion of this point.

## POINT IV.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS INSTRUCTIONS OR IN ITS REFUSAL TO GIVE INSTRUCTIONS REQUESTED BY PLAINTIFF.

Plaintiff's attorney claims that the court's instructions do not comport with a "federal rule." The federal rule he refers to is the rule followed in cases tried under the Federal Employers Liability Act as indicated earlier in this brief. Again, we say there is no "federal rule" whatever

involved. Counsel says that the instructions are diametrically opposed to the case of *Transcontinental & Western Air, Inc.*, vs. *Koppal*, supra. As pointed out above, this case holds that state rules of procedure apply to suits for breaches of contracts entered into pursuant to the Railway Labor Act, the same as to any other suit in a state court for breach of contract. We are not going to repeat ourselves and refer to this matter again, although plaintiff's counsel belabors it throughout his discussion under Point IV.

*The plaintiff's exceptions to instruction given:* The plaintiff excepted to paragraph 2 of Instruction No. 2 but gave no reasons. This the court might overlook but the plaintiff does not point out any error in the *brief* with respect thereto. We should not be required to defend an instruction of which the plaintiff has not offered a single word of criticism.

The plaintiff excepted to the court's instruction Number 2, paragraph 3(a). The court there instructed the jury:

“However, if you find the above has been proved by a preponderance of the evidence you will award Mr. Russell damages in accordance with instructions that follow, unless you also find that *the Railroad has proven by a preponderance of the evidence*  
\* \* \* that

“(a) Mr. Russell was in fact guilty of violation of Rule 55(b) by being absent from July 20 to July 31 without proper leave *under circumstances* justifying his dismissal.”

This is unquestionably correct law and the court might well have stopped at this point. The court added parenthetically:

“(In other words an employee cannot recover for being dismissed on a charge which is true, re-

ardless of whether or not he was accorded a proper investigation because the law presumes that had he been accorded a proper investigation he would have been dismissed any way. Under such a circumstance, the sufficiency of the investigation is immaterial.)”

We will concede that it is doubtful that the court added anything to his instruction by the parenthetical explanation. We do not concede it was in error. Preceding the parenthetical explanation the court made a clear, concise and accurate statement of the law when he said the railroad had the burden of proof to show that Mr. Russell was in fact guilty of violation of Rule 55(b), by being absent from July 20 to July 31, without proper leave, *under circumstances justifying his dismissal*. Moreover counsel in making his objection did not advise the trial court of “the grounds of his objection” in this instance *as required by Rule 51 of Utah Rules of Civil Procedure*. We are not unaware that the court in its discretion may disregard his failure to do so. Plaintiff contends that we conceded the error in this instruction. We suggested to the court that he elaborate, explain the matter further to the jury, so that it would not appear to be too favorable to the defendant. The court stated “I believe it is covered in a later instruction.” We concluded the matter was covered adequately and accurately and did not refer to it again. There was a constant effort throughout this trial on the part of the plaintiff to implant in the minds of the jury, in the teeth of the former opinion of this court, that the transcript of the official investigation did not reveal the plaintiff’s guilt and plaintiff was therefore entitled to recover. The court sought to make plain to the jury in the questioned

instruction that regardless of the evidence at the investigation, the jury was to decide the validity of the discharge *upon all the evidence produced before them at the trial.*

The plaintiff complains of Instruction No. 3 because it tells the jury the railroad was required to comply with the provisions of Rule 38 requiring notice of the hearing, notice of the charge, according the plaintiff the right to appear in person, to be represented by someone of his own choice, etc. "unless these requirements were waived by the plaintiff." This is a correct statement and while there was no *specific* evidence that the plaintiff had waived these provisions, he did in fact waive part of them by not producing any witnesses and not taking the witness stand in his own behalf. There was no harm in the court making this explanation to the jury.

Plaintiff complains that in instruction Number 3 the court erred further, in "gratuitously" injecting the question of mistake into the case. Assuming it was not necessary to the determination of the two principal issues in the case, and that the trial court was acting "gratuitously" we submit it was harmless in view of the issues, the other instructions and the findings of the jury on the special interrogatories. In no single particular does the plaintiff point out how this instruction could or did mislead the jury from a proper determination of the two issues involved, or how or in what manner it was prejudicial to the substantial rights of the plaintiff, preventing him from having a fair trial. The court was again telling the jury here, that apart from the claims of plaintiff concerning the official inves-

tigation, they had to decide the issue on the evidence before them at the trial.

The plaintiff complains principally of Instruction No. 5, which reads as follows:

“You are instructed that the defendant had a right to dismiss any employee, including the plaintiff W. B. Russell, for violation of Rule 55(b) of the contract which is in evidence, so long as the defendant was not acting in bad faith and arbitrarily and so long as the employee was physically able to comply with the provisions of said Rule 55(b). And if you find that the plaintiff did violate said Rule 55(b) being physically able to comply therewith, and that the defendant was not acting in bad faith and arbitrarily when it dismissed him for such violation, your verdict should be in favor of the defendant and against the plaintiff ‘no cause of action.’ ”

His complaint is that it places the burden of proof upon the plaintiff “to prove bad faith on the part of the defendant and in addition to a physical impossibility on his part to perform.” But he does not point out wherein or how this instruction places the burden on the plaintiff as claimed. The court clearly told the jury in its Instruction No. 2 that *the burden was upon the railroad* to prove “Mr. Russell was in fact guilty of violation of Rule 55(b) by being absent from July 20 to July 31 without proper leave *under circumstances justifying his dismissal.*” The jury was therefore instructed that not only was the burden upon the defendant to prove violation of Rule 55(b) by a preponderance of the evidence, but that the defendant had the burden of negating plaintiff’s claim that it was physically impossible for him to comply with the rule. The instructions also



placed on the defendant the burden of proving that it did not act arbitrarily or in bad faith which we think is established if the evidence satisfies the jury that the plaintiff was not so incapacitated as to be unable to comply with the rule. We think the instruction is strictly in line with the former decision of this court and was most favorable to the plaintiff, giving him every advantage he was entitled to. This instruction was a correct, albeit an abstract statement of the law. It did not purport to deal with the burden of proof and of course must be read in the light of all the instructions. This court has many times said that the court cannot and need not cover the entire case in one instruction. The court told the jury in Instruction No. 15 that the instructions were "to be considered and construed as one connected whole," and that the instructions were to be considered as a whole. The instructions as a whole clearly placed the burden of proving all elements set forth in Instruction No. 5 squarely on defendant.

Plaintiff's counsel next discusses errors in the instructions given by the court on damages and, since a verdict was returned in favor of the defendant, instructions on damages, right or wrong, are moot, and we do not feel called upon to discuss them. The foregoing constitutes all of the exceptions taken to the instructions given by the court.

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